IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2435

LEONARD NORTHUP, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY HELEN NORTHUP, Deceased.

Petitioner

VS.

HERBERT W. ACKEN, M.D., P.A.

Respondent

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER LEONARD NORTHUP

Morgan, Colling & Gilbert, P.A. 101 E. Kennedy Boulevard Suite 1790 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)223-5505 / Fax (813) 223-5402

By: Scott M. Whitley Fla. Bar No. 520683

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS				
	ISSUES ON APPEAL				
	A. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT PRIOR DEPOSITIONS OF DR. DILLON WERE NOT WORK PRODUCT.				
		1. THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DID NOT SEEK DISCLOSURE OF RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL'S SELECTION, COMPILATION OR EVALUATION OF DOCUMENTS AS CONTEMPLATED BY <u>SMITH</u> .			
		2. STATEMENTS ARE DISCOVERABLE IN EVERY INSTANCE WHEN THEY ARE INTENDED TO BE PRESENTED AT TRIAL EITHER FOR SUBSTANTIVE, CORROBORATIVE, OR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES.			
	В.	THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION BY REQUIRING PRODUCTION OF DR. DILLON'S DEPOSITIONS PRIOR TO TRIAL SO THAT PETITIONER'S COUNSEL COULD COMPLY WITH FLA. STAT. § 90.108.			
	C.	DR. DILLON IS ENTITLED TO ANY OF HIS DEPOSITIONS IN THE POSSESSION OF RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL PURSUANT TO FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.280 (b) (3).			
III.	SUM	MMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	4		
IV.	ARGUMENT		6		
V.	CONCLUSION				
	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE				
	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE AND TYPE SIZE 20				

TABLE OF CASES

Page	,
Binger v. King Pest Control, 401 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1981)	
Bohannon v. Honda Mfr. Co., Ltd., 127 F. R.D. 536 (D. Kan. 1989)	
Collier v. McKesson, 121 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 3 rd D.C.A. 1960)	
Corack v. Travelers Ins. Co., 347 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 4 th D.C.A. 1977)	
Dodson v. Purcell, 397 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1980) 4, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15	
Gardner v. Manor Care at Boca Raton, Inc., 2002 WL 530977 (Fla. App. 4 Dist.)	
<i>In re: Grand Jury Subpoenas</i> , 959 F. 2d 1158 (2 nd Cir. 1992))
<i>Northup v. Acken</i> Case No. SC02-2435	
The Omega Consulting Group, Inc. v. Omegacal Consulting, Inc., (Fla. 4 th D.C.A. January 23, 2002)	
Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. of Pittsburg, Inc. v. Pepsico, Inc., (2002 WL 113879) (D. Kan. January 22, 2002) (NO. 01-2009-KHV) 7	
San Juan Dupont Plaza Hotel Fire Litig., 859 F. 2d 1007, 1018 (1 ^{st.} Cir. 1988)	
Shelton v. American Motors Corp., 805 F. 2d 1323 (8 th Cir. 1986)	9
Smith v. Florida Power and Light Co., 632 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 3 rd D.C.A. 1994)	

Sporck v. Peil, 759 F. 2d 312 (3 rd Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 903, 106 S. Ct. 232, 88 L.Ed. 2d 230 (1985)
Surf Drugs, Inc. v. Vermette, 236 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1970) 13
<i>TIG Insurance Corp. of America</i> , 799 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 4 th D.C.A. 2001)
§ 90.108, Fla. Stat
Rule 1.280 (b)(3), Florida Rule of Civil Procedure
Ehrhardt, <i>Florida Evidence</i> § 108.1 (2002 Ed.)

I. **Preliminary Statement**

For purposes of this appeal, the Petitioner, Leonard Northup, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Helen Northup, Deceased, will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Plaintiff," his capacity in the trial court. The Respondent, Herbert W. Acken, M.D., will be referred to as "Respondent" or "Defendant." All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

II. Statement of the Case and Facts

The underlying litigation is an action for medical negligence. There is a claim for wrongful death involving failure to diagnose an ovarian tumor as well as a survival action for improperly failing to prepare the patient's bowel resulting in an unnecessary colostomy. (Tab 1, Third Amended Complaint). Respondent answered this complaint and filed affirmative defenses. (Tab 2, Defense Answer).

On September 28, 2001, the trial court entered an order scheduling the trial of this matter during the two-week period commencing March 18, 2002. (Tab 3, Pretrial Order). This order required the parties to disclose a list of all witnesses and all potential exhibits by October 28, 2001. Petitioner filed its witness and exhibit list (Tab 4, Plaintiff's Witness and Exhibit List) while respondent relied upon the witness and exhibit list it had filed when the case had previously been set for trial (Tab 5, Defendant's Witness and Exhibit List). Respondent's exhibit list did <u>not</u> contain any reference to deposition transcripts of Dr. Dillon, plaintiff's expert witness.

On November 5, 2001, Petitioner filed a Request for Production requesting copies of all deposition transcripts of Dr. Dillon in defendant's possession.

On December 3, 2001, respondent objected to this request on the basis of the work product doctrine (Tab 7). Petitioner's counsel filed a Motion to Compel on January 15, 2002 (Tab 8).

The Motion to Compel was heard on January 23, 2002, less than two months before the case was set for trial. A transcript of the hearing is attached hereto as

¹ Dr. Dillon had been deposed by Respondent's counsel on June 15, 2001 and November 2, 2001 (Tab 6).

Tab 9. After hearing argument of counsel and considering the written submissions of counsel, the Honorable Randall G. McDonald granted petitioner's Motion to Compel, overruling the claim of attorney work product. This order was entered on February 25, 2002. (Tab 10)

Respondent timely filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari reviewing Judge McDonald's order (Tab 11). The Second District granted Petition for Writ of Certiorari finding production of deposition transcripts well immune from discovery pursuant to the work product doctrine. The Court specifically noted it was relying on Smith v. Florida Power and Light Co., 632 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1994) ("Smith"). However, the Second District certified conflict between the Smith decision and the Fourth District case of Gardner v. Manor Care of Boca Raton, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D. 837, (Fla. 4th D.C.A. April 10, 2002) ("Gardner"). Thus, the Second Circuit recognized the district court decisions of Smith and Gardner could not be harmonized and certified conflict establishing this Court's jurisdiction. 827 So. 2d 1070, 1072.

III. Summary of the Argument

The trial court's order does not require defense counsel to identify the portions of Dr. Dillon's prior depositions which he intends to use as impeachment at trial. Instead, defense counsel was ordered to produce all of Dr. Dillon's prior depositions in his possession. As such, the trial court correctly determined this case did not seek disclosure of defense counsel's selection, compilation, and evaluation of

documents as contemplated by <u>Smith</u>. The trial court's order is the equivalent of a standard pretrial order requiring the identification of all potentially relevant documents to be used at trial.

The trial court correctly determined that Dr. Dillon's prior deposition transcripts were discoverable and not protected by the work product doctrine. It is well-settled in Florida that documents, pictures, statements and diagrams which may be presented as evidence at trial are not work product exempt from discovery. Such materials are discoverable in every instance when they are intended to be presented at trial either for substantive, corroborative, or impeachment purposes. Defense counsel's contention that these depositions are work product until he actually uses them during trial directly and expressly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Dodson v. Purcell</u>, 397 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1980).

The trial court acted within its discretion by requiring production of Dr. Dillon's depositions prior to trial. Florida Statute § 90.108 provides that when any portion of a writing, document, or recorded statement is introduced, the adverse party has the right to require any other portion of the writing or statement to be introduced if fairness requires, however, this must be done **at the time the writing is introduced**, not during cross-examination or during the party's own case. The trial court correctly determined it would be a waste of judicial resources to require a protracted recess of trial each time defense counsel attempted to impeach Dr. Dillon in order to provide plaintiff's counsel an opportunity to review deposition transcripts for the first time.

Dr. Dillon is entitled to copies of all depositions in defense counsel's possession pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.280 (b) (3). This rule provides that a person not a party

may obtain a copy of a "statement" concerning the "action or its subject matter" previously made by that party. A "statement previously made" is defined in the rule and includes a stenographic statement such as a deposition. Since the "subject matter of this litigation" is medical malpractice, any prior depositions of Dr. Dillon given in a medical malpractice case "concerns the subject matter of this litigation" and is therefore discoverable.

IV. Argument

- A. The Trial Court Correctly Determined that Prior Depositions of Dr. Dillon were not Work Product
 - 1. The Trial Court's Order did not seek Disclosure of Respondent's Counsel's Selection, Compilation, or Evaluation of Documents as Contemplated by Smith

Respondent's counsel concedes Dr. Dillon's prior depositions themselves do not constitute work product. However, he attempts to place himself within the rule announced in <u>Smith</u> by arguing that producing all of Dr. Dillon's depositions would constitute work product, since it would allegedly involve disclosure of the selection and evaluation of documents. However, a careful reading of <u>Smith</u> and the federal authorities cited therein refutes this contention and supports the trial court's determination that producing **all** of Dr. Dillon's depositions does not involve disclosure of defense counsel's selection, compilation and evaluation of documents (A. 361)

Smith involved a request for production by Florida Power and Light ("FPL") to plaintiff requiring production of "all other documents of Florida Power and Light in their possession and not produced by the Defendant, Florida Power and Light in this cause." FPL had become aware that plaintiff had some of its documents but did not know which specific documents had been obtained. Plaintiff's attorney asserted that the documents were not discoverable at this point in the litigation ³ because the grouping of these documents collected outside the discovery process would reveal his mental impressions. Significantly, and in direct contrast to this case, FPL advanced no other argument in either the trial court or in the appellate court to force production of the documents that were once in its possession but could not be specifically identified. The Third District granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

The <u>Smith</u> court determined that it was faced with an issue of first impression in Florida – whether an attorney's selection of documents which by themselves would not be cloaked with the work product privilege renders that group of documents, as a discrete unit, immune from discovery. The <u>Smith</u> court held that it did. In arriving at this conclusion, the Third District relied upon three federal decisions, <u>Sporck v. Peil</u>, 759 F. 2d 312 (3rd Cir.). *cert. denied*, 474 U.S. 903, 106 S. Ct. 232, 88 L. Ed. 2d 230 (1985) ⁴; <u>Shelton v.</u>

² The trial court's order did not require respondent's counsel to identify which prior depositions or which portions of a particular deposition he intended to use as impeachment. This would be a legitimate example of an order which required disclosure of counsel's selection and evaluation of documents prohibited by Smith.

³ Plaintiff's counsel in <u>Smith</u> was not claiming that these documents did not have to be revealed on his pretrial exhibit list.

⁴ The reasoning set forth in <u>Sporck</u> has not been followed in a number of federal decisions. In fact, <u>Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. of Pittsburg, Inc. v. Pepisco, Inc.</u>, 2002 WL 113879 (D. Kan

American Motors Corp., 805 F. 2d 1323 (8th Cir. 1986) and In re: Grand Jury Subpoenas, 959 F. 2d 1158 (2nd Cir. 1992) to support its conclusion.

Sporck involved a discovery dispute between the parties in a securities fraud class action suit. Peil alleged that National Semiconductor Corporation (NSC) and its President, Charles Sporck, conspired to artificially inflate the value of NSC stock in order to enable Sporck to sell shares at an inflated level. During discovery, attorneys for Peil served numerous sets of interrogatories and document requests on defendants. In response, defendants produced hundreds of thousands of documents from which Peil's attorneys selected more than 100,000 for copying. Prior to the deposition of Mr. Sporck, plaintiff's counsel requested that Sporck identify all documents examined, reviewed, or referred to by him in preparation for his deposition. Defense counsel refused to identify the documents arguing that all of the documents had previously been **produced**, and that the select grouping of the documents was attorney work product and thus protected from discovery by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Third Circuit agreed.

In <u>Shelton</u>, the Eight Circuit reversed a default judgment which had been entered against AMC for refusing to allow its attorney to answer deposition questions asking her to identify a subset of documents that she considered to be important out of a larger collection of documents **which had already been produced** by AMC.

Bohannon v. Honda Mfr. Co. Ltd., 127 F.R.D. 536, 539-40 (D. Kan. 1989)

January 22, 2002) (NO.01-2009-KHV) adopted the dissent of Judge Seitz in <u>Sporck</u> and upheld a magistrate's order which rejected application of the work product privilege under circumstances similar to <u>Sporck</u>. <u>See also, San Juan Dupont Plaza Hotel Fire Litig</u>, 859 F. 2d 1007, 1018 (compelled disclosure of document lists does not implicate work product);

Likewise, <u>In re: Grand Jury Subpoenas</u> involved a request for documents already in the possession of the opposing party's attorneys.

The facts of this case are clearly distinguishable from those set forth in Sporck, Shelton and In re Grand Jury Subpoenas. In each of those cases, one party produced records to another party and thereafter asked the opposing party to identify which records they considered to be important out of a collection which had already been produced. That is in direct contrast to this case, since respondent's counsel has not produced any of the previous depositions of Dr. Dillon and petitioner's counsel does not possess any other deposition transcripts of this witness. None of those cases involve prior statements of a witness which were intended to be used as impeachment at trial. Finally, those cases do not support respondent's contention that a party need not disclose documents in its pretrial exhibit list which may be used at trial.

Smith did not involve nor discuss the issues of use of a prior statement of a witness at trial. The Second District's statement below in Northup that "possible use of the depositions for impeachment at trial is not before us and we do not address it."

Northup at note 1, is simply erroneous. There would be no other use of prior depositions of Dr. Dillon except for impeachment at trial, since his deposition had already been taken by defense counsel!

In <u>Smith</u>, plaintiff claimed work product "at this point in the litigation." <u>Smith</u>, 632 So. 2d at 697. A document or exhibit may be work product at the outset of litigation but loses this protection if it is to be used at trial. An example of this is surveillance film. Surveillance film is initially protected. However, once a defendant determines it may be used at trial, the film is no longer privileged. However, before

plaintiff views the film, the defendant is entitled to depose plaintiff. See <u>Dodson</u>. This rule protects both parties.

It should be stressed that Petitioner's counsel did not request Dr. Dillon's prior deposition transcripts until **after** Dr. Dillon was deposed. Defense counsel was able to examine Dr. Dillon and determine the basis of his opinions for over six hours during his pretrial deposition. Thus, at the time the prior deposition transcripts were sought, Plaintiff's attorney was preparing for trial, not preparing to defend a deposition of his expert. As this Court set forth in <u>Dodson</u>, on the eve of trial, the parties must disclose any potentially relevant evidence which may be used at trial. The prior depositions are completely analogous to a surveillance film and accordingly, whatever work product protection may exist earlier in the litigation, it is lost when the case moves forward to trial.

Here, the defense attorney had the opportunity to take the deposition of Dr. Dillon and fully develop any inconsistencies in his testimony without regard to any depositions. Thus, no work product was disclosed or even sought. However, after Dr. Dillon's deposition was completed and the case proceeded to trial, any protection that was previously afforded was lost. Consistent with the Court's decision in <u>Dodson</u>, such information must be disclosed if it is anticipated it will be used at trial.

The Court in <u>Gardner</u>, rejected a claim of work product similar to that asserted by respondent. There, Manor Care propounded interrogatories requesting plaintiff to identify which documents ⁵ plaintiff contended were relevant to the issues to be determined at trial. The trial court overruled plaintiff's work product objection.

_

⁵ These documents were personnel files of defendant's employees and various surveys conducted at Manor Care.

Plaintiff filed a petition for a writ of certiorari based upon the reasoning set forth in <u>Smith</u>. The Fourth District denied the petition.

The Court attempted to distinguish <u>Smith</u> by noting that unlike <u>Smith</u>, <u>Gardner</u> only involved a finite number of documents which Manor Care had produced. More importantly, the Fourth District noted that requiring disclosure of the documents petitioner thought to be relevant had no more effect than a standard pretrial order requiring a party to list relevant documents to be used during trial.

Although <u>Smith</u> can be distinguished from this case for the reasons set forth above, <u>Gardner</u> cannot be. Even though <u>Gardner</u> does not mention <u>Dodson</u> by name, it recognizes that a trial court can require a party to identify documents which a party intends to use at trial. The Second District's determination that Dr. Dillon's deposition transcripts are not subject to disclosure conflicts with <u>Gardner</u> and is directly contrary to Dodson.

2. Statements are discoverable in every instance when they are intended to be presented at trial either for substantive, corroborative, or impeachment purposes.

At the hearing on Plaintiff's motion to compel production of the depositions of Dr. Dillon, Respondent's counsel argued that <u>Dodson</u> did not apply to this case, because it involved the issue of surveillance film. He also argued Dr. Dillon's prior depositions were work product and did not have to be produced until they were actually used during the trial. He is wrong on both counts.

<u>Dodson</u> was heard by this Court as a result of a conflict between the Third District's decision in <u>Collier v. McKesson</u>, 121 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1960) and the Fourth District's decision in <u>Corack v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 347 So. 2d 641 (Fla.

4th D.C.A. 1977). Corack held that the existence and content of such materials were discoverable, while McKesson held that surveillance films constituted work product and were not discoverable. This Court expressly disapproved the holding in McKesson. Id. at 708. In doing so, this Court agreed with Petitioner's argument that the existence and contents of surveillance films should be disclosed prior to trial and must be treated like any other evidence in order to avoid misuse. The Court rejected the defense argument that the discovery of surveillance films was not necessary to eliminate surprise, since the surveillance film involved facts more readily known by the plaintiff than the defendant and consequently there would be no surprise.

This Court referenced its prior holding in <u>Surf Drugs</u>, <u>Inc. v. Vermette</u>, 236 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1970). There, guidelines were established to determine which materials or information were subject to discovery and which were classified as falling within the work product privilege, stating as follows:

Generally those documents, pictures, **statements** and diagrams which are to be presented as evidence are not work product and anticipated by the rule for exemption from discovery. Personal views of the attorney as to how and when to present evidence, his evaluation of its relative importance, his knowledge of which witness will give certain testimony, personal notes and records as to witnesses, jurors, legal citations, proposed arguments, jury instructions, diagrams and charts he may refer to at trial, for his convenience, but not to be used as evidence, come within the general category of work product. <u>Surf Drugs</u> at 112.

<u>Dodson</u> specifically held that the contents of surveillance films and materials are subject to discovery in **every instance** where they are intended to be presented at trial either for substantive, corroborative, **or impeachment purposes**. As noted earlier, this Court expressly disapproved the Third District's decision in <u>McKesson</u>. That is

significant, since <u>McKesson</u> accepted the argument advanced by defense counsel in this case. That is, since surveillance films would be only used for impeachment that they were not discoverable prior to trial.

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