SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEONARD NORTHUP, as	CASE NO. SC02-2435
Personal Representative of the	
Estate of MARY HELEN	
NORTHUP, Deceased,	
Petitioner,	
·	
vs.	
HERBERT W. ACKEN, M.D.,	
P.A.,	
Respondent.	

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE RESPONDENT, HERBERT W. ACKEN, M.D., P.A.

WICKER, SMITH, O'HARA, McCOY, GRAHAM, & FORD, P.A. 390 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1000 Orlando, FL 32801 (t) (407) 843-3939 (f) (407) 649-8118 Richard E. Ramsey Florida Bar No. 0715026 Michael R. D'Lugo Florida Bar No. 0040710

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Petitioner's Initial Brief contains a Statement of the Case and of the Facts which accurately sets forth the factual background of this appeal. As a result, the Respondent will not reiterate the factual background here. However, nothing in this statement should be deemed to be a waiver of the right to contest any facts in this case at the trial court level.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the course of preparation of this case for trial, counsel for Dr. Acken conducted an extensive investigation into the testimonial history of the Plaintiff's retained expert, Michael Dillon, M.D. This investigation revealed that Dr. Dillon had testified as a retained expert on a number of occasions in the past. Based upon a review of these depositions, Dr. Acken's counsel selected a limited number which counsel believed would be useful at the trial of this cause in the form of impeachment evidence should Dr. Dillon testify inconsistently with his former testimony while on direct examination.

Mr. Northup has requested a court order compelling Dr. Acken to reveal the identity of the deposition transcripts his counsel has acquired through this investigation process. The Circuit Court in and for Polk County granted this request, while the Second District Court of Appeal rejected it. This Court should not disturb the decision of the District Court, because that court correctly found that Dr. Acken's counsel's mental impressions about this litigation would be revealed if he were forced to divulge the identity of the deposition transcripts he had chosen. Although the deposition transcripts themselves are not protected work product, the unique assembly of these transcripts into a new subset of documents represents what Dr. Acken's counsel believes is important. As such, the compilation of these documents is entitled to protection from disclosure.

The rule of completeness, which allows a party to introduce an entire document when another party chooses to introduce only a portion, does not compel a different result. The vital right of a party to be able to effectively cross examine an adversarial witness cannot be lightly discarded in the name of judicial economy. Likewise, the fact that the depositions may be used at trial does not compel their disclosure now. There is no way to know what depositions will be used until Dr. Dillon's direct examination is completed at trial. Finally, the provisions of Florida's Rules of Civil Procedure which allow a non-party to obtain copies of statements made concerning the "action or its subject matter" do not help Mr. Northup, a party to this litigation, to obtain the transcripts in question. These transcripts, which Mr. Northup could rather easily obtain on his own, do not concern this action or its subject matter. Instead, they concern those other actions, and the subject matters of those other actions, in which Dr. Dillon has been retained as an expert. In the absence of any showing that Dr. Dillon is unable to obtain the substantial equivalent of these transcripts without undue hardship, the District Court's opinion must be upheld.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal correctly determined that the compilation of Dr. Dillon's deposition by Dr. Acken's counsel constituted mental impression work product, and that Mr. Northup's arguments were insufficient to overcome this highly protected privilege.

The instant appeal is an effort by Mr. Northup to have this court reinstate the order of the trial court in and for Polk County, Florida, which had the effect to compelling counsel for the Respondent to disclose the identity of those deposition transcripts that Respondent's counsel had obtained through research, review, analysis, and judgment. Reduced to its most basic element, this appeal is directed toward the issue of whether Respondent's counsel's compilation of deposition transcripts of depositions the Plaintiff's retained expert, Michael Dillon, M.D., has given over time, is discoverable. However, the decision this Court makes in resolving this issue will have far reaching effects on the manner in which civil lawsuits are prepared for trial in the state of Florida, as the position the Petitioner is advocating in this appeal is nothing short of the abrogation of a privilege which protects the thought processes of counsel from disclosure, and which thereby preserves the vitality of the adversarial system. The dismantling of this privilege would have a chilling effect on all counsel, both those representing plaintiffs and defendants, in the manner in which they gather information in support of their clients' interests.

The basis for Dr. Acken's objection to the production of Dr. Dillon's depositions in defense counsel's possession is the work product doctrine. This doctrine provides for immunity from discovery for certain materials which are prepared or organized in preparation for litigation. In interpreting the Federal Rule after which the Florida Rule was patterned, the United States Supreme Court has explained that this immunity from discovery is necessary in order to preserve the privacy of an attorney's preparation, and to ensure the proper functioning of the adversarial system. *Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495, 67 S.Ct. 385, 91 L.Ed.451 (1947). Proper preparation of a client's case demands that the attorney assemble information, sift what the attorney considers to be the relevant from the irrelevant facts, and prepare his legal theories and plan of strategy without undue and needless interference. Id., 329 U.S. at 510, 67 S.Ct. at 393. Although what constitutes work product which is immune from discovery is incapable of a concise definition adequate for all occasions, an attorney's evaluation of the relative importance of evidence falls squarely within the parameters of the privilege. Surf Drugs, Inc. v. Vermette, 236 So.2d 108, 112 (Fla. 1970). What Mr. Northup proposes in his Initial Brief would in effect eviscerate the theoretical underpinnings of the work product doctrine as enunciated by the United States Supreme Court.

Materials which fall within the protection of the work product doctrine are immune from discovery with very limited exceptions which are provided in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 1.280(b)(3) provides in relevant part:

Subject to the provisions of Subdivision (b)(4) of this rule, a party may obtain discovery of documents and tangible things otherwise discoverable under Subdivision (b)(1) of this rule and prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for another party or by or for that party's representative, including that party's attorney,

consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or agent, only upon a showing that the party seeking discovery has need of the materials in preparation of the case and is unable without undue hardship to obtain the substantial equivalent of the materials by other means. In ordering discovery of the materials when the required showing has been made, the court shall protect against disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of an attorney or other representative of a party concerning the litigation.

(Emphasis added).

Thus, once it is established that the compilation of materials, such as the assembly of the depositions of Dr. Dillon given in other lawsuits, constitutes work product, it becomes incumbent upon Mr. Northup to make a demonstration that he has a need for these materials, and cannot obtain their substantial equivalent without undue hardship. As will be set forth below, the assembly and compilation of these depositions does fall within the ambit of the most highly protected version of the work product doctrine, and Mr. Northup never made any showing to the trial court, the District Court, or to this Court, of an inability to obtain the substantial equivalent of these depositions without undue hardship.

Dr. Acken does not take the position that the depositions of Dr. Dillon, in and of themselves, constitute protected work product. It is not the depositions themselves that are protected, but rather Dr. Acken's counsel's acquisition of certain limited deposition transcripts of Dr. Dillon which constitutes the protected materials. Starting with the entire universe of every deposition which Dr. Dillon has given throughout the course of his career, counsel for Dr. Acken has made a reasoned judgment in obtaining copies of certain deposition transcripts of Dr. Dillon, while rejecting others. It is the thought process of Dr. Acken's counsel in acquiring certain deposition transcripts while rejecting others which mandates that this Court find that the particular assembly of these deposition transcripts constitutes protected work product.

Mr. Northup ignores the obvious in his Initial Brief, and takes the untenable position that

compelling the disclosure of all of Dr. Dillon's deposition transcripts in Dr. Acken's counsel's possession would not reveal the thought processes of counsel. Mr. Northup's argument might make sense if Dr. Acken's counsel had indiscriminately obtained every deposition Dr. Dillon had ever given. In that hypothetical situation, there would be no selection process by counsel to be revealed, because no critical analysis would have been performed. That is not the case here, as Dr. Acken's counsel emphatically informed the trial court that the basis for the application of the work product doctrine to the facts of this case is the thought process that led to the decision to select certain depositions, while rejecting others.

Mr. Northup attempts to confuse the issue in the Initial Brief before this Court by arguing that Dr. Acken "admitted" that no selection of Dr. Dillon's depositions had been made because the depositions are to be used to impeach Dr. Dillon. By definition, any impeachment material will be selected in response to Dr. Dillon's direct testimony, which, of course, will not take place until trial. This contention is specious, at best. The selection which is pertinent to the issues raised in this appeal is the selection of certain of Dr. Dillon's depositions, and the rejection of others, from the overall universe of his depositions he has ever given. It is the identity of these documents that Mr. Northup wants to obtain. From this subset, Dr. Acken will make a second determination, at trial, of which of these depositions, if any, provide material suitable for impeachment. Mr. Northup's attempt to compress these two distinct determinations into one is a transparent effort to avoid the impact of the work product doctrine, and reveals the weakness of his position.

The Third District Court of Appeal has considered a factual scenario which is strikingly similar to the facts of the instant case, and has come to the conclusion that the assembly of these documents by counsel is protected work product. In *Smith v. Florida Power & Light Company*, 632 So.2d 696 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994), counsel for the plaintiff had accumulated certain internal FPL generated business documents. Counsel for FPL propounded a request for

production that asked for the plaintiff to produce: "all other documents of defendant, Florida Power & Light Company in your possession and not produced by defendant, Florida Power & Light in this case." The plaintiff objected to the request on the basis of the work product doctrine. The plaintiff argued that the documents were not discoverable because the very grouping of those documents which had been collected outside of the discovery process would reveal his mental impressions. The trial court overruled the plaintiff's objections and ordered the plaintiff to produce these documents. The Third District Court of Appeal ruled that the trial court departed from the essential requirements of law in compelling the disclosure of these documents.

As is the case here, the documents FPL sought were not in and of themselves protected work product of the opposing counsel, because the party seeking the production of those documents had actually created them. However, the *Smith* court reasoned that even if the individual documents sought to be produced were not protected under the work product doctrine, "the selection process itself represents defense counsel's mental impressions and legal opinions as to how the evidence in the documents relates to the issues and defenses in the litigation." *Id.* at 698, *quoting Sporck v. Peil*, 759 F.2d 312, 315 (3rd Cir.) *cert denied*. 474 U.S. 903, 106 S.Ct. 232, 88 L.Ed.2d 230 (1985). The *Smith* court cited to the decision of the *Sporck* panel in support of the following proposition: "The selection and compilation of documents by counsel in preparation for pretrial discovery fell within the *highly protected category of opinion work product* because identification of documents as a group would reveal counsel's selection process." *Id.* (Emphasis added).

The *Smith* court went on to quote from another Federal Circuit Court in continuing its analysis, for the following proposition: "In cases that involve reams of documents and extensive document discovery, the selection and compilation of documents is often more critical than legal research." *Id.*, *citing Shelton v. American Motors Corporation*, 805 F.2d 1323 (8th Cir. 1986). The *Shelton* court had actually prohibited the plaintiffs from compelling defense counsel from even acknowledging the existence of a collection of AMC generated documents that she had assembled.

Based upon these federal decisions, the *Smith* court came to the conclusion that the particular grouping of FPL documents assembled by the plaintiff constituted the protected mental impressions of plaintiff's counsel, thus falling under the highly protected mental impression work product, which enjoys even stronger protection from disclosure than ordinary work product materials.

The *Smith* court concluded:

The documents sought comprise a grouping that is the end result of counsel's selection process; identification of the group would reveal counsel's mental impressions. FPL did not, nor could it allege a need for the documents or undue hardship in obtaining them so as to overcome the privilege under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(3); all the documents sought are in FPL's possession. Where a request is made for documents already in the possession of the requesting party, with the precise goal of alerting what the opposing attorney's thinking or strategy may be, even third party documents may be protected.

Id. at 698-699.

The opinion in *Smith* compels a similar result in the instant action. Like the FPL documents assembled by the plaintiff's attorney in *Smith*, here, counsel for Dr. Acken has assembled a certain number of depositions which Dr. Dillon has given. Mr. Northup is seeking to obtain these depositions in order to minimize the impact of any impeachment material these depositions may have at the trial of this case. Compelling the disclosure of these depositions would reveal the mental impressions of Dr. Acken's counsel to Mr. Northup.

Mr. Northup takes the position that the court's conclusion in *Smith*, because it was based on the federal cases cited above, should not prevail on this Court because the federal cases on which the *Smith* court relied are factually distinguishable. The distinction Mr. Northup attempts to draw is that in these federal cases, the request to identify those documents deemed to be significant concerned documents the requesting party had produced earlier in discovery, whereas here Dr. Acken went out on his own and found documents he deemed to be important based on his own research. This is a distinction without a difference. Whether the documents came from opposing counsel or from some other source, the mental impressions of an attorney deciding what is important and what is not important must remain protected.

As part of this same argument, Mr. Northup complains that he does not

have any of Dr. Dillon's prior deposition transcripts. If that is true, it is because he has not taken the time to go find them. One of the reasons the work product doctrine was created was to protect the work attorneys perform in preparing their case for trial from disclosure because of an opponent's discovery request which is designed to circumvent having to do the leg work himself. If Mr. Northup's true goal is obtaining Dr. Dillon's prior deposition transcripts, and not compelling the disclosure of Dr. Acken's counsel's mental impressions, then those transcripts are available from alternative sources.

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